**RECEIVED**

**Oct 09 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Civil Action No. 2019-CP-43-02375

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000074

---

Ex Parte: Liberty Mutual Insurance Company and Horace Mann Property and Casualty Insurance  
Company, Respondents,

In Re:

Howell D. Thompson and Tara L. Thompson,

Appellants,

v.

Carlos D. Toney

Defendant.

---

**APPELLANTS' BRIEF**

---

John D. Kassel  
Theile B. McVey  
Jamie Raw Rutkoski  
Kassel McVey  
P.O. Box 1476  
Columbia, SC 29202  
803-256-4242

Andrew N. Safran  
Andrew N. Safran, LLC

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the circuit court err in dismissing this case where the action was commenced against the at-fault driver?
2. Did the circuit court err in relying on *Louden* to dismiss the case and ignoring controlling South Carolina law?
3. Did the circuit court err in finding Respondents did not waive service-related issues where they failed to timely file motions to dismiss, participated in robust litigation for nearly two years, and waited until the eve of trial, after the statute of limitations had passed, to raise service-related issues to the circuit court?
4. Did the circuit court err in refusing to estop Liberty Mutual from raising a service defense where it assured Appellants that no service-related issues existed within the timeframe remaining for serving the complaint and accepted the jurisdiction of the circuit court by requesting the circuit court change venue?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS<sup>1</sup>

This case arises out of a motor vehicle accident which occurred in Lexington County on June 2, 2017. (R. p. 407.) Carlos Toney (“Toney”), a Sumter County resident, disregarded a traffic control device and turned in front of a vehicle operated by the Appellant Howell Thompson (“Mr. Thompson”). (*Id.*) The impact was extensive, and Mr. Thompson sustained multiple injuries, including a forearm fracture that took nearly four years to heal and required surgical intervention four times. (R. p. 48.) As a result of the accident, Mr. Thompson has a permanent injury that limits the use of his left arm. (*Id.*)

Mr. Thompson and his wife, Tara L. Thompson (“Mrs. Thompson” and, collectively with Mr. Thompson, “Appellants”) settled their claims against Toney and his liability carrier, State Farm, on September 9, 2019. (R. pp. 572–75.) To consummate the settlement, Appellants executed a covenant not to execute to preserve their ability to recover underinsured motorist

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellants combine the statement of the case and statement of the facts to eliminate repetition due to considerable overlap between the procedural history and the facts in this case.

coverage from their own insurance policies. (*Id.*)

Appellants filed a Summons and Complaint against Toney in Sumter County on December 5, 2019. (R. pp. 46–49.) Appellants served the Summons and Complaint on Respondent Liberty Mutual Insurance Company (“Liberty Mutual”) on December 19, 2019, and Respondent Horace Mann Casualty and Property Insurance Company (“Horace Mann”, and, together with Liberty Mutual, “Respondents”) on December 18, 2019, pursuant to sections 38-5-70 and 38-77-160 of the South Carolina Code. (R. pp. 653–54.) On December 19 and 20, 2019, Appellants filed letters from the South Carolina Department of Insurance accepting service on behalf of Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann. (*Id.*) Appellants did not personally serve Toney with the Complaint at the time of filing and, therefore, did not file a proof of service showing service on Toney.

Liberty Mutual filed an Answer on January 2, 2020, and an Amended Answer on February 20, 2020.<sup>2</sup> (R. pp. 50–57, 59–61.) In the Answer and Amended Answer, Liberty Mutual set forth, in part, the following defenses:

**FOR A TENTH DEFENSE**  
**(Statute of Limitations)**

21. The allegations contained in the proceeding paragraphs, not inconsistent herewith, are hereby realleged as if set forth verbatim.

22. Insurer would show that this action is barred by the applicable Statute of Limitations. . . .

**FOR A FOURTEENTH DEFENSE**  
**(Improper Service)**

33. The allegations contained in the proceeding paragraphs, not

---

<sup>2</sup> As discussed further herein, Liberty Mutual’s counsel sought consent from Appellants’ counsel to amend its Answer to change the wording of the introductory paragraph from “uninsured” to “underinsured.” (R. pp. 288–91.)

inconsistent herewith, are hereby realleged as if set forth verbatim.

34. Insurer would show that Plaintiff's claims are barred because Insurer and Defendant have not been served in accordance with the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

(R. pp. 53, 55–56, 64, 66–67.) Horace Mann filed an Answer on January 7, 2020, and set forth, in part, the following defense:

**FOR A THIRD DEFENSE**  
**(Process of Service)**

9. Defendant would show, upon information and belief, Plaintiff has failed to obtain Service of Process against this Defendant and for that reason, Plaintiff's Complaint should be dismissed with prejudice.

(R. p. 59.) In the Answer, Horace Mann stated the Answer was on behalf of Defendant, by and through the underinsured motorist carrier, Horace Mann Property and Casualty Insurance Company ("Defendant")." (R. p. 58.) Horace Mann did not raise a statute of limitations defense.<sup>3</sup> Both Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann raised defenses based on improper venue. (R. pp. 53, 59, 64.) Horace Mann alleged "the appropriate venue would be the Lexington County Court of Common Pleas," and Liberty Mutual simply stated it "pleads the defense of improper venue in the County of Sumter, State of South Carolina." (R. pp. 53, 59.)

On January 16, 2020, after reviewing Liberty Mutual's Answer, Appellants' counsel specifically inquired about certain defenses raised by Liberty Mutual's counsel, stating:

---

<sup>3</sup> Horace Mann raised the following defenses: improper venue, process of service, and punitive damages. (R. pp. 58–60.) Liberty Mutual raised the following defenses: failure to state a claim, comparative negligence, intervening and superseding negligence, sudden emergency, assumption of known risk, unavoidable accident, waiver and estoppel, improper venue, statute of limitations, spoliation, reservation and non-waiver of rights, punitive damages, improper service, bifurcation of punitive damages, and set off. (R. pp. 61–68.)

[T]hanks for your answer and discovery requests in this UIM case. Your answer suggests an improper venue. Where do you contend venue is proper? The answer has defenses for statute of limitations, spoliation[,] and improper service. Are these serious omissions you will be filing a motion upon or more of a boiler plate pleading at this stage of the litigation?

(R. pp. 285–87.) Counsel for Liberty Mutual responded: “Boiler plate at this stage. Given the recent appellate court ruling in *Garrison v. Target*[<sup>4</sup>], I’m probably going to have to start pleading every defense available under Title 1 to 63 to be sure I haven’t waived anything.” (*Id.*)

Subsequently, on February 19, 2020, counsel for Liberty Mutual sought consent from Appellants’ counsel to amend its Answer to change the wording in the introductory paragraph of its Answer from “uninsured” to “underinsured” and add defenses for setoff and a cap on punitive damages. (R. pp. 288–91.) Appellants consented to this amendment. (*Id.*) Despite assurances that Liberty Mutual was only filing an Amended Answer to change this wording to be more accurate and add defenses for setoff and a cap on punitive damages, Liberty Mutual changed its Answer in another respect—it changed the introductory paragraph of the Amended Answer to specifically reference section 38-77-160 of the South Carolina Code.<sup>5</sup> (R. pp. 50, 61.) The service and statute of limitations defenses Liberty Mutual raised in its Amended Answer were identical to

---

<sup>4</sup> *Garrison v. Target Corp.*, 429 S.C. 324, 838 S.E.2d 18 (Ct. App. 2020), *aff’d in part and rev’d in part*, 435 S.C. 566, 869 S.E.2d 797 (2022).

<sup>5</sup> In footnote 2 of the Order dismissing the case, the circuit court cited to Liberty Mutual’s specific reference to section 38-77-160 to find that “the UIM carriers certainly have not waived their right to rely on the UIM statute[.]” (R. p. 32.) As discussed further herein, Appellants submit that this change in the Amended Answer to specifically reference section 38-77-160 despite Appellants only consenting to the amendment after assurances that Liberty Mutual made three changes—changing uninsured to underinsured and adding defenses for setoff and a cap on punitive damages—is further evidence of Liberty Mutual’s gamesmanship tactics in this case and intent to keep an ace card up its sleeve to play once the time for service expired. The circuit court erred in failing to estop Liberty Mutual from raising these issues. Further, as discussed further herein, Appellants submit the circuit court erred in failing to differentiate the actions and inactions of Liberty Mutual with the actions and inactions of Horace Mann and instead focusing on the “UIM carriers” as a collective.

those “boiler plate” defenses it raised in its original Answer.

Robust litigation of this matter commenced from January 2020 to October 2021. The following timeline shows the active engagement in litigation and discovery by both Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann:

January 2, 2020	Liberty Mutual answers the complaint and serves interrogatories and requests to produce on Appellants
January 7, 2020	Horace Mann answers the complaint
January 8, 2020	Horace Mann serves interrogatories and requests to produce on Appellants
January 16, 2020	Email communication between Appellants’ counsel and counsel for Liberty Mutual wherein Liberty Mutual counsel informs Appellants’ counsel its defenses are “boiler plate” defenses
February 20, 2020	Liberty Mutual files an amended answer
March 5, 2020	Horace Mann responds to Appellants’ discovery
March 10, 2020	Liberty Mutual subpoenas medical records from Lexington Radiology, Lexington Medical Center, Midlands Orthopaedics, Pain Specialists of Charleston, Palmetto Health Orthopaedics, Palmetto Imaging, Eye Center, Lexington Brain & Spine, Lexington County EMS, Lexington Family Practice, Lexington Orthopaedics
March 24, 2020	Liberty Mutual files Motion for Change of Venue
May 5, 2020	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann take Appellants’ depositions
May 15, 2020	Appellants’ counsel takes deposition of Defendant Toney with participation by counsel for Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann
May 24, 2020	Liberty Mutual subpoenas Mr. Thompson’s medical records from Prisma Health Plastic Surgery
June 15, 2020	Liberty Mutual subpoenas cell phone records from Verizon
July 22, 2020	Hearing on Liberty Mutual’s Motion for Change of Venue

(R. pp. 590–604.)

August 7, 2020	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann take deposition of Officer Bryan Shumpert
August 17, 2020	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann take deposition of Dr. Earl McFadden
August 20, 2020	Liberty Mutual responds to Appellants' discovery
September 2, 2020	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann take deposition of Dr. David Strickler
September 14, 2020	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann take second deposition of Dr. Earl McFadden
September 21, 2020	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann participate in drafting and presenting proposed Scheduling Order signed by the Court requiring the parties to mediate by March 31, 2021, and ordering trial on or after May 1, 2021 (R. pp. 6–8.)
<b>September 30, 2020</b>	<b>Deadline for Appellants to facilitate service pursuant to Rule 3(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure</b>
October 6, 2020	Liberty Mutual responds to Appellants' requests to admit
October 7, 2020	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann take deposition of Dr. David Fulton
October 14, 2020	Horace Mann responds to Appellants' requests to admit
October 28, 2020	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann take deposition of Dr. David Fulton
November 30, 2020	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann reconvene deposition of Howell Thompson
December 7, 2020	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann participate in deposition of Lori Campbell
March 4, 2021	Liberty Mutual/Horace Mann participate in drafting and presenting second Scheduling Order signed by the Court requiring the parties to mediate by June 1, 2021, and ordering trial on or after August 1, 2021 (R. pp. 9–11.)
March 17, 2021	Liberty Mutual counsel seeks order of protection
May 26, 2021	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann participate in status

	conference with Court
June 1, 2021	Liberty Mutual/Horace Mann participate in drafting and presenting third Scheduling Order signed by the Court requiring the parties to mediate by October 1, 2021, and ordering trial on or after November 1, 2021 (R. pp. 12–14.)
July 1, 2021	Liberty Mutual identifies Dr. David DuPay as an orthopaedic expert
July 14, 2021	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann participate in hearing on Appellants’ motion for protection from discovery (R. pp. 605–20.)
August 9, 2021	Appellants take deposition of Dr. David DuPay
August 23, 2021	Liberty Mutual subpoenas records from Lindsay Moore, MSPAS
September 10, 2021	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann participate in deposition of Dr. Mirsad Mujadzic
September 15, 2021	Liberty Mutual/Horace Mann participate in drafting and presenting fourth Scheduling Order signed by the Court requiring the parties to mediate by November 1, 2021 and ordering trial on or after January 10, 2022 (R. pp. 20–22.)
October 25, 2021	Liberty Mutual and Horace Mann participate in mediation but failed to resolve the case (R. pp. 655–57.)
October 26, 2021	Liberty Mutual files Motion to Dismiss
October 29, 2021	Horace Mann files Motion to Dismiss
November 18, 2021	Liberty Mutual serves supplemental answers to interrogatories producing documents from a private investigator

(R. pp. 292–462.)

After participating in discovery for nearly two years, Liberty Mutual filed a Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment, alleging Appellants failed to serve the Complaint on Toney within the statute of limitations and, therefore, the action should be

dismissed. (R. pp. 127–28.) Three days later, Horace Mann filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Obtain Service of Process which was substantively identical to Liberty Mutual’s Motion. (R. pp. 129–30.) Appellants submitted Memoranda in Opposition to these motions on December 15, 2021, and January 27, 2022. (R. pp. 136–56, 183–238.)

The circuit court held a hearing on January 6, 2022. (R. pp. 621–52.) At the hearing, the UIM carriers argued the case was controlled by *Louden v. Moragne*, 327 S.C. 465, 486 S.E.2d 525 (Ct. App. 1997). (R. pp. 625–27.) Liberty Mutual’s counsel argued the timeline in *Louden* was nearly identical to the timeline in the instant case, and the *Louden* court granted the insurance carrier’s motion for summary judgment due to failure of service on the at-fault driver. (*Id.*) Appellants’ counsel argued *Louden* was not controlling because the facts of *Louden* were different than the facts of the instant case. (R. pp. 628–41.) Specifically, Appellants’ counsel argued the UIM carriers here participated extensively in the case for nearly two years, including seeking relief from the circuit court and participating in hearings, without raising any issues with service and, therefore, waived any service-related issues. (R. pp. 628–37.) Appellants’ counsel also argued Defendant Toney voluntarily appeared and testified in a deposition which amounted to a waiver of service. (R. pp. 630–31, 640–41.) Further, as to Liberty Mutual, Appellants’ counsel argued it should be estopped from arguing service because it assured Appellants’ counsel it was not raising lack of service and it was precluded from raising lack of service because it previously filed a motion without raising the service issue. (R. pp. 637–41.)

On August 28, 2022, the circuit court issued an Order granting the insurance carriers’ motions and dismissing the case. The circuit court found that *Louden* was controlling and required dismissal. (R. pp. 28–31.) Specifically, the circuit court “conclude[d] that the facts of this case are on ‘all fours’ with the facts from *Louden*, and thus the *Louden* rule requires dismissal.” (*Id.*)

The circuit court construed the motion as a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, not a motion to dismiss under Rule 12 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. p. 29.) The circuit court held the action had not been commenced against Toney, a valid judgment could not attach against Toney, and Toney would be prejudiced by allowing the case to move forward. (R. pp. 31, 34.) The circuit court found the UIM carriers did not waive service-related issues and found South Carolina waiver cases were not applicable because they did not involve the UIM benefits. (R. pp. 31–33, 35.) The circuit court further noted the UIM carriers’ participation in the case for nearly two years did not amount to waiver because “the timing of [their motions were] nearly identical to the timing of the successful motion in *Louden*.” (R. p. 34.) The circuit court found Liberty Mutual’s previous venue motion was not pursuant to Rule 12 and Liberty Mutual’s counsel’s representations to Appellants’ counsel did not meet the elements of estoppel. (R. pp. 36–41.) Finally, the circuit court held Toney’s appearance at his deposition did not amount to a voluntary appearance in the case because it would “circumvent the UIM statute and *Louden* and *Williams*[,] all of which require timely service upon a putative at-fault driver as a necessary prerequisite to a UIM claim so that the UIM carriers’ rights to defend (and right to insist on a valid judgment) are not compromised.” (R. pp. 41–42.)

Appellants filed a timely motion pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (Mtn. to Alter/Amend.) The circuit court did not hold a hearing on Appellants’ motion and, instead, summarily denied Appellants’ motion on December 21, 2022. (R. pp. 44–45.)

Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on January 19, 2022. (R. pp. 658–81.)

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court when reviewing the dismissal of an action.” *Cap. City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009). Rule 12(b) of the South Carolina rules of Civil Procedure, provides, in pertinent part:

Every defense ... to a cause of action in any pleading ... shall be asserted in the responsive pleading thereto if one is required, except that the following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: . . . (5) insufficiency of service of process . . . . A motion making any of these defenses shall be made before pleading if a further pleading is permitted.

Rule 12(b)(5) is the proper vehicle for challenging both “the mode of delivery or the lack of delivery of the summons and complaint.” *Unisun Ins. v. Hawkins*, 342 S.C. 537, 541, 537 S.E.2d 559, 561 (Ct. App. 2000) (quoting Rule 12(h)(1)) (quoting 5A Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure Civil 2d* § 1353 (1990) (emphasis added)). “Rule 12(h)(1) [of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure] expressly provides that the defense of insufficiency of service of process is waived ‘if it is neither made by motion under this rule nor included in a responsive pleading or an amendment thereof permitted by Rule 15(a) to be made as a matter of course.’” *Id.* (quoting Rule 12(h)(1)).

“When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, appellate courts apply the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c)[ of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure], which provides that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653, 661 S.E.2d 791, 796 (2008). “On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and

inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.” *Id.*

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The circuit court erred in dismissing the case where the action was commenced against the at-fault driver within the statute of limitations.**

The circuit court erred in dismissing the case because the action was commenced against the at-fault driver within the statute of limitations. Under prevailing South Carolina law, Defendant Toney was served in the action within the Statute of Limitations. Although Appellants admit they did not personally serve Defendant Toney with the Summons and Complaint upon filing, service was accomplished as of May 15, 2020, when Defendant Toney voluntarily appeared for his deposition and gave testimony in this case. This occurred prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations and well within the September 30, 2020 deadline for accomplishing service. Therefore, this Court should vacate the order dismissing the case and remand to the circuit court for the case to proceed to trial.

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