RECEIVED

Feb 03 2026

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001556

Barbara Gail BowickAppellant,

v.

Carlos Alejandro GomezRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Wesley B. Sawyer, Esquire
S.C. Bar No. 100229
Rogers E. Harrell, III, Esquire
S.C. Bar No. 101532
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.
P.O. Box 6648
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 782-4100
wsawyer@murphygrantland.com
Attorneys for Respondent

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

claim via certified mail to Glenwood Falls' registered agent, Cathy Kleiman, but Kleiman did not sign the return receipt. Instead, an unauthorized person signed it.” *Id.* Nevertheless, the registered agent received the cross-claim, and counsel for Glenwood Falls then reached out by letter to the cross-claimant’s counsel. *Id.* In the letter, the counsel for Glenwood Falls “not only announces his representation of Glenwood Falls without reservation but also expresses an intent to reach the merits of the case.” *Id.* at 341, 644 S.E.2d at 798. As this Court specifically noted, the letter – i.e. Glenwood Falls’ first communication – “contains not the slightest hint of a desire to challenge service of process.” 373 S.C. at 341, 644 S.E.2d at 798. Only several months after the court entered a default judgment against Glenwood Falls did the partnership raise the issue of proper service for the first time. *Id.* at 336, 644 S.E.2d at 795. The Court held that the letter constituted a voluntary appearance. *Id.* at 341, 644 S.E.2d at 798.

Here, unlike the cross-claimant in *Stearns*, Appellant admits she never served the Summons and Complaint upon Respondent and thus she had no reasonable basis to believe that she had properly served Respondent. *See* (Appellant’s Br. (never arguing that Appellant served or attempted to serve Respondent and stating “Gomez was not formally served with the Summons and Complaint”)). More importantly, Respondent filed an Answer specifically raising insufficiency of service and insufficiency of process in his very first appearance in the case. (R. p. 45, Answer ¶¶ 27-28). This is more than a “slight[] hint of a desire to challenge service of process.” *See Stearns Bank Nat. Ass'n*, 373 S.C. at 341, 644 S.E.2d at 798. Consequently, there has been no “voluntary” appearance in this case, only an appearance subject to the defenses of insufficiency of service and insufficiency of process – exactly how Rule 12(b) requires.³

³ Also, the standard of review that applied in *Stearns* was one of deference to the trial court’s discretion because the order on appeal was a denial of a motion for relief from a default judgment. *Stearns*, 373 S.C. at 336, 644 S.E.2d at 795. Thus, the Court of Appeals was required to affirm in

This case is much more similar to *Wellin v. Wellin*, 427 S.C. 15, 25, 828 S.E.2d 767, 772 (Ct. App. 2019), where this Court found there was no voluntary appearance. In that case, the defendants voiced their objections to the court having jurisdiction over the trust that had not been served with a summons and complaint. *Id.* Although the defendants’ counsel at times participated in the exchange among the parties regarding depositing trust assets into the court, this Court held that this “conduct did not rise to the level of a waiver of personal jurisdiction on behalf of the Trust” because the defendants continued to voice their objections to personal jurisdiction. *Id.*

Like the defendants in *Wellin*, Respondent here voiced his objection to service in his Answer. As soon as a Motion to Dismiss became ripe – after the time lapsed for Appellant to effectuate service under Rule 3 and § 15-3-20 – Respondent filed his Motion to Dismiss – reiterating his objection based on lack of service. In other words, Respondent raised lack of service as soon as he appeared in the case and then moved on that defense as soon as it was ripe.

Appellant’s argument that a Motion to Compel – one that was never heard and that was only necessitated by Appellant’s failure to respond to basic discovery – somehow waives service defenses is nonsensical. By its plain language, Rule 12 permits defenses to be raised in an answer or in an initial motion. Raising a defense in an answer puts all parties on notice of the defense. In fact, it is not at all uncommon for a Rule 12 answer to ultimately require some level of discovery – making the issue one that will be addressed later in the case, sometimes through summary judgment. Parties may conduct discovery on personal jurisdiction ((12)(b)(1)), venue ((12)(b)(3)), service of process (12)(b)(4) and (5)), or whether joinder of another party is required ((12)(b)(7)). It is nonsensical to argue that by serving discovery after raising an affirmative defense under Rule 12, a party thereby waives

Stearn unless the trial court abused its discretion in denying the motion to set aside the default judgment.

its Rule 12 defenses. Such an interpretation flies in the face of the plain language of the rules. Likewise, suggesting that moving to compel responses to discovery somehow waives Rule 12 defenses would reward a plaintiff who files suit and then fails to respond to discovery. Unsurprisingly, Appellant does not cite caselaw to support this contention, and the plain language of Rule 12 refutes Appellant's argument.⁴

Respondent raised his Rule 12(b)(4) and (5) defenses in his initial responsive pleading, putting Appellant on notice of those defenses. Appellant failed to heed those warnings and failed to serve Respondent within one hundred twenty (120) days of filing the Summons and Complaint, as required by Rule 3, SCRCP and § 15-3-20. As soon as the one hundred twenty (120) days passed, Respondent moved to dismiss based on the failure to serve within the statute of limitations. Appellant's arguments that Respondent "voluntarily appeared" despite immediately raising the defense in his Answer and then immediately moving on that defense as soon as it was ripe are simply incorrect. The Circuit Court properly granted the Motion to Dismiss.

III. Appellant's other arguments are not preserved for appellate review.

"In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003). "An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider." *Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172,

⁴ Rule 12(h)(1) specifically addresses how a defense of insufficiency of process or insufficiency of service of process may be waived: "(A) if omitted from a motion in the circumstances described in subdivision(g)" – not applicable here because Respondent did not file such a motion – or "(B) if it is neither made by motion under this rule nor included in a responsive pleading or an amendment thereof permitted by Rule 15(a) to be made as a matter of course" – again, not applicable because Respondent did assert these defenses in his responsive pleading. Appellant essentially asks this Court to write into the Rule additional forms of waiver that the rule's drafters chose not to include.

177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009). An issue raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider is not preserved for appellate review. *Id.*; *Kiawah Prop. Owners Grp. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of S.C.*, 359 S.C. 105, 113, 597 S.E.2d 145, 149 (2004); *Commercial Credit Loans, Inc. v. Riddle*, 334 S.C. 176, 186, 512 S.E.2d 123, 129 (Ct.App.1999) (“Further, because the transcript of the proceedings below is omitted from the record, it appears the first time Commercial Credit made this argument was in its Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration. Accordingly, this issue is not properly preserved for our review.”). “An issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals...” *Dunbar*, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 694.

A. Appellant’s Rule 12(g) and 12(h) arguments are not preserved for appellate review and are inapplicable.

Appellant argues that Respondent waived his insufficiency of process defense by failing to comply with Rule 12(g) and (h), but those arguments are not preserved for appellate review and neither of those rules are applicable under the procedural facts of this case. *See* (Appellant’s Br., pp. 11-13). Appellant’s un-filed Response in Opposition to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss did not include these arguments. *See* (R. pp. 22-26, Pl.’s Resp. in Opp.). Her counsel did not raise this argument at the hearing on this matter. (R. pp. 51-62, November 6, 2024 Hearing Transcript). The Circuit Court’s Orders did not rule on this matter. *See* (R. pp. 7-9, November 7, 2024 Order); (R. pp. 4-6, November 21, 2024 Order). Even if Appellant had raised this issue in a motion to reconsider, it would not be preserved for appellate review. As this Court explained in *RRR, Inc. v. Toggas*:

[I]n order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court. It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court to be preserved. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). Moreover, a party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not. *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E.2d

849, 854 (2005) (issue raised for first time in Rule 59, SCRCPP, motion is not preserved for review).

378 S.C. 174, 185, 662 S.E.2d 438, 443 (Ct. App. 2008), *cert. granted, decision aff'd*, 381 S.C. 490, 674 S.E.2d 170 (2009); *see also Eaddy v. Oliver*, 345 S.C. 39, 44, 545 S.E.2d 830, 833 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding that an issue first raised in a post-trial motion is not preserved for appellate review); *Bank of New York v. Sumter Cnty.*, 387 S.C. 147, 159, 691 S.E.2d 473, 479 (2010) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion.”). Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

Moreover, given the procedural history of this case, these sections of the Rule are inapplicable.

Rule 12(g) states:

(g) Consolidation of Defenses in Motion. A party who makes a motion under this rule may join with it any other motions herein provided for and then available to him. If a party makes a motion under this rule but omits therefrom any defense or objection then available to him which this rule permits to be raised by motion, he shall not thereafter make a motion based on the defense or objection so omitted, except a motion as provided in subdivision (h)(2) hereof on any of the grounds there stated.

Rule 12(g), SCRCPP (emphasis added). Thus, the trigger for Rule 12(g) waiver is a party making a motion under Rule 12 that omits a Rule 12 defense. Here, Respondent did not make any Rule 12 motion prior to his Motion to Dismiss, which included the defenses of insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process. *See* (R. pp. 27-28, Mot. to Dismiss). Thus, Rule 12(g)’s waiver provision was never triggered under the procedural history of this case, and Appellant’s Rule 12(g) waiver argument is without merit.⁵

⁵ To the extent Appellant premises her Rule 12(g) waiver argument on the Motion to Compel, a motion to compel is not “a motion under this rule,” as required to trigger the waiver provision. *See* Rule 12(g), SCRCPP. The “motion[s] under this rule” are only the Rule 12(b) motions, Rule 12(c) motions for judgment on the pleadings, Rule 12(d) motions for a more definite statement, and Rule 12(f) motions to strike. *See* Rule 12, SCRCPP.

Rule 12(h) provides in pertinent part:

(h) Waiver or Preservation of Certain Defenses.

(1) A defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person, improper venue, insufficiency of process, insufficiency of service of process, or that another action is pending between the same parties for the same claim is waived (A) if omitted from a motion in the circumstances described in subdivision (g) or (B) if it is neither made by motion under this rule nor included in a responsive pleading or an amendment thereof permitted by Rule 15(a) to be made as a matter of course.

Rule 12(h)(1), SCRCP (emphasis added). Thus, the triggers for Rule 12(h) waiver are: (A) the defenses being omitted from a prior Rule 12 Motion; or (B) the defenses neither being made by motion “nor included in a responsive pleading.” *Id.* As explained above, Respondent did not file any Rule 12 motion before filing his Motion to Dismiss, which included these defenses. Therefore, the section (A) trigger is not met. Additionally, these defenses were included in a responsive pleading (the Answer) and in a Rule 12 motion (the Motion to Dismiss). Therefore, the section (B) trigger is not met. Consequently, Appellant’s argument that Rule 12(h)’s waiver provision applies is without merit.

Moreover, Rule 12(h)(1) further demonstrates that these defenses can be asserted for the first time in a responsive pleading, like an answer. The Rule specifically states that these defenses are only waived if they are “**neither** made by motion under this rule **nor** included in a responsive pleading . . .” Rule 12(h)(1). This Rule sets forth alternative ways to avoid waiver of these defenses – make them by motion or include them in a responsive pleading. Thus, the language of this Rule further undermines Appellant’s argument that Respondent waived these defenses by asserting them as affirmative defenses in his Answer before including them in his Motion to Dismiss. Consequently, no waiver relieves Appellant of her failure to timely commence her action.

B. Appellant’s statute of limitations pleading argument is not preserved for appellate review, and the statute of limitations issue was tried by implied consent.

To the extent Appellant argues that the Circuit Court erred in ruling on the statute of limitations issue because it was not included as an affirmative defense in the Answer, such issue is not preserved for appellate review. *See* (Appellant’s Br., p. 13). Appellant’s un-filed Response in Opposition to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss did not include this argument. *See* (R. pp. 22-26, Pl.’s Resp. in Opp.). Her counsel did not raise this argument at the hearing on this matter. *See* (R. pp. 51-62, November 6, 2024 Hearing Transcript). The Circuit Court’s Orders did not rule on this matter. *See* (R. pp. 7-9, November 7, 2024 Order); (R. pp. 4-6, November 21, 2024 Order). Even if Appellant had raised this issue in a motion to reconsider, it would not be preserved for appellate review. *See RRR, Inc.*, 378 S.C. at 185, 662 S.E.2d at 443; *Eaddy*, 345 S.C. at 44, 545 S.E.2d at 833; *Bank of New York*, 387 S.C. at 159, 691 S.E.2d at 479. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

Additionally, when Respondent raised the service defenses in his May 2, 2024 Answer, Appellant still had over two months to timely serve Respondent and commence this action within the statute of limitations – i.e. by July 26, 2024. Consequently, Respondent would not have had a valid statute of limitations defense at that time. Moreover, “[t]he statute of limitations is not a defense listed under Rule 12(b) which may be raised by pre-answer motion. It also is not listed under any other subdivision of Rule 12 and, therefore, is not a defense or objection which Rule 12 permits to be raised by pre-answer motion.” *Glenn v. Sch. Dist. No. Five of Anderson Cnty.*, 294 S.C. 530, 534, 366 S.E.2d 47, 49–50 (Ct. App. 1988). Appellant’s opportunity to timely commence her action through service expired on July 26, 2024. Thereafter, Respondent timely filed his Motion to Dismiss on August 9, 2024 – a mere ten (10) business days later. (R. pp. 27-28). Pursuant to Rule 15(b), “[w]hen issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings.” Rule 15(b), SCRPC. At the hearing on the

Motion to Dismiss, Appellant did not object on the basis that the statute of limitations defense was not raised in the Answer. (R. pp. 51-62, November 6, 2024 Hearing Transcript). Consequently, the statute of limitations issue was tried by implied consent at the November 6, 2024 hearing.⁶

C. Appellant’s “justice and public policy” arguments are not preserved for appellate review.

Likewise, Appellant’s “justice and public policy” arguments are not preserved for appellate review. *See* (Appellant’s Br., pp. 13-14). Appellant did not raise these issues in her un-filed Response in Opposition. (R. pp. 22-26). Her counsel did not raise “justice and public policy” arguments at the hearing on this matter. (R. pp. 51-62, November 6, 2024 Hearing Transcript). The Circuit Court’s Orders did not rule on these arguments. *See* (R. pp. 7-9, November 7, 2024 Order); (R. pp. 4-6, November 21, 2024 Order). Therefore, these arguments are not preserved for appellate review.

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